1951

Haskell N. Bates v. Jimmie Simpson et al : Brief of Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant Bonding Company seeks by this appeal to reverse the District Court's refusal to require W. J. Saunders to pay the loss suffered by plaintiff Bates by reason of Saunders' failure to deliver title to the car which Saunders sold to Bates, and the Court's refusal to hold Saunders on his agreement to indemnify

the defendant Bonding Company, together with other error hereinafter pointed out.

In 1949 Jimmie Simpson and W. J. Saunders commenced operating a used car lot at 999 South State Street, Salt Lake City, Utah. (R. 151) Arrangements for the rental of the lot were made by Simpson with the owner of the property, the Utah Motor Parks, for both Simpson and Saunders. (R. 151) Simpson and Saunders each paid his share of the rent; they shared the telephone, shared the furnishings and the building that was moved on to the property. The building was located in the center of the lot and the cars were displayed on the lot. Across the top of the building was a large sign through the center of which ran the words "Used Cars", and at one end appeared the name of "Saunders" and at the other end of the sign appeared the name of "Simpson". (R. 127) Saunders and Simpson had each secured a license from the State of Utah as a used car dealer, and each had secured and furnished a bond from the defendant The Employers' Liability Assurance Corporation, Ltd.

The plaintiff came to the lot to look at cars on November 5, 1949, and met the defendant Jimmie Simpson, and after trying out a 1947 Chevrolet Sedan, signed a used car order which appears as Exhibit A. (R. 77) This order was never signed by any person as dealer or seller. This 1947 Chevrolet sedan had been brought to Salt Lake by Simpson under consignment from Brokaw-Bauer, an automobile company in Los Angeles, Cali-

fornia. The title was to be forwarded to the Continental Bank by Brokaw-Bauer and to be picked up under a draft at the bank by Simpson. (Exhibit 11) The car had been placed on the lot and had been there for some several days prior to the visit by Bates.

There was no statement made by Simpson to Bates as to who owned the automobile, but as stated by Bates, Simpson told him that title to the car would be retained by the finance company until Bates had paid out the purchase price. (R. 110) Bates stated that Simpson told him that Bates could drive the car on the California license plates which it carried for three weeks, and that Simpson would take care of the transfer of the plates and the registration of the car. Bates turned in an automobile for which he was given credit in the sum of \$500.00, and on the 5th of November, 1949, he endorsed the title to the automobile turned in to Simpson and left the car at the lot.

At the time of this transaction Simpson told Bates that he did not know just where the car would be financed; that his partner and finance man Bill Saunders at that time was out on a pheasant hunt, and that that matter would have to be handled at a later date. (R. 77-80) Upon Bates' return to the lot sometime during the following week, he was advised by Simpson that Saunders had financed the deal through Strevell-Paterson Finance Company. (R. 84) At the time of the transaction on November 5th, Simpson wrote out in longhand a copy of Exhibit 1, which carries the same information

according to the witness Bates, as contained in Exhibit 1, other than that the seller was left blank in the copy given Bates. Bates claims to have lost that copy; nevertheless, Bates signed Exhibit 1 in original and three copies, and other than for Bates' signature, Exhibit 1 was entirely blank and unfilled. (R. 80)

Upon Saunders' return from the pheasant hunt the deal with Bates was presented to Saunders by Simpson with the request that Saunders assist Simpson in his effort to secure financing through Strevell-Paterson Finance Company. At that time Simpson had a credit report on Bates and went over the entire transaction with Saunders, giving him the information on Bates and the transaction as heretofore set forth. Saunders had previously known of this car having been brought to the lot from California by Simpson, and was aware of the car's condition and its worth. Saunders was also advised that title to the car was held by Brokaw-Bauer in California, and could not be obtained until a draft had been paid for the car at Continental Bank. (R. 202) The draft from Brokaw-Bauer was not forwarded to the Continental Bank until November 25, 1951. (See Exhibit 11.)

Saunders took the four blank title retaining contracts to Strevell-Paterson Finance Company, together with the used car order (Exhibit A), and presented these documents, together with the credit rating on Bates, to Mr. Minson of Strevell-Paterson Finance Company. Minson filled in the contract (Exhibit B and

Exhibit 1) from the information on the used car order, and Saunders signed the purchase agreement as the Seller-Dealer. (R. 247) This took place on November 15, 1949, and a copy of the agreement was shortly thereafter mailed to Bates and he received it sometime between the 17th and 20th days of November, 1949.

Thereafter Bates made three payments of \$66.00 each to Strevell-Paterson Company in accordance with the provisions of the contract. (Ex. 9) Strevell-Paterson Company, on November 15, 1949, gave to Saunders its check in the sum of \$900.00, the balance owing by Bates. Saunders cashed that check and gave to Jimmie Simpson his check for \$870.10, with the endorsement on the check, "Payment in full for 1947 Chevrolet Sedan, Motor No. N 172835". (Exhibit 7) Simpson then went to the Continental Bank to secure the title to the 1947 Chevrolet and the draft and the title were not then at the bank, and he returned and reported this fact to Saunders. (R. 214) Saunders then had Simpson execute Exhibit 6, being an assignment of the automobile to Saunders.

The testimony shows that Saunders had an avenue of credit established at Strevell-Paterson, and by reason of that credit was able to do financing with that Company. Simpson had his credit established with the Capitol Finance Company and was able by reason of that credit to do his financing through Capitol. However, Saunders could not deal at Capitol and Simpson could not deal at Strevell-Paterson. (R. 157) At the

time of this transaction, Simpson advised Saunders that Capitol was unable to give him financing because their money was out on small loans as it was nearing the Christmas season, and he asked Saunders to help him by getting the contract financed through Strevell-Pater-son. Simpson and Saunders agreed that Saunders should receive the \$70.00 reserve for his part in securing this financing. (R. 157)

Saunders contacted Simpson at several intervals between November 15, 1949, and January 7, 1950, and during which two-month period Simpson at all times indicated he would get the title from the bank. Saunders at no time attempted to secure the title himself from the bank and at all times indicated he was satisfied to rely upon the assurance of Simpson that Simpson would get the title. Neither did Saunders at any time attempt to register the car at the State Capitol. Bates last saw Simpson December 17th at the used car lot, at which time Simpson indicated to Bates that he would get him the plates to the car in just a few days, and Saunders last saw Simpson January 7, 1950.

The Brokaw-Bauer people commenced an action in the Third District Court in Utah, by which proceeding they picked up the 1947 Chevrolet Sedan automobile from Bates.

Saunders and Simpson, during the several months that they had been together, had joined in several joint ventures, one of them being a trip to Nevada and Cali-

fornia in which they picked up a number of cars and brought them back to Salt Lake City, where they were sold and the profits and expenses shared. (R. 202) They had on other occasions joined in the financing of "deals" for each other the same as on the Bates transaction. (R. 202)

Simpson was not served in this case and the Court tried the case without Simpson as a party. Judgment was given the plaintiff Bates for the value of the car he turned in, together with attorney's fees and costs in defending the Brokaw-Bauer action for a total judgment of \$933.52, and the Court dismissed Bates' action against Saunders. The Court gave Saunders judgment against the Bonding Company for \$867.75. The judgment of Saunders was made up of the sums charged against his account by Strevell-Paterson in the amount aforesaid. However, the District Court refused to take into consideration the fact that Saunders had retained out of the check to Simpson the sum of \$29.90 for which credit was never given. The Court dismissed the cross-complaint of the Bonding Company against Saunders.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON
POINT NO. I.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND AND CONCLUDE THAT SAUNDERS WAS LIABLE TO BATES AS A CO-TORTFEASOR WITH SIMPSON.

(a) *The sale to Bates was a joint venture participated in by Simpson and Saunders. Both Simpson and Saunders received bene fits by reason of the transaction.*

(b) *Saunders, with all the knowledge of facts in Simpson's possession, made the same representations to Bates as did Simpson.*

(c) *Saunders violated the statutes of the State of Utah in the same manner and to the same extent as did Simpson.*

POINT NO. II.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND AS A FACT AND CONCLUDE AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT SAUNDERS' UNLAWFUL CONDUCT PRECLUDED HIM FROM MAINTAINING AN ACTION AGAINST HIS CO-TORTFEASOR, SIMPSON.

(a) *Saunders is precluded from maintaining an action against Simpson by virtue of Section 57-6-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, as amended.*

(b) *The law leaves the wrongdoer where it finds him.*

POINT NO. III.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND AS A FACT AND CONCLUDE AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT SAUNDERS WAS BY CONTRACT, ACT AND REPRESENTATION PRIMARILY LIABLE FOR ANY LOSS SUFFERED BY BATES.

POINT NO. IV.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT THERE WAS A CONTRACT BETWEEN BATES AND SIMPSON FOR THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF THE 1947 CHEVROLET IN QUESTION.

(a) *The only contract in existence concerning the said automobile was between Bates as the buyer and Saunders as seller.*

(b) *The parol evidence rule prohibits the introduction of evidence to vary the terms and to substitute the parties of written instruments.*

(c) *Saunders is estopped to deny that he was the seller of the automobile to Bates in view of his express representations to Bates and to Strevell-Paterson Finance Company.*

(d) *If there was no joint venture, Simpson was not liable to Bates.*

POINT NO. V.

THE COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT SIMPSON WAS LIABLE TO SAUNDERS FOR VIOLATION OF THE ACT.

(a) *The Court erred in finding that Simpson sold Saunders a contract, since Simpson did not have a contract with Bates.*

(b) *No statutory liability exists as to the sale of a contract as distinguished from the sale of an automobile.*

POINT NO. VI.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE DEFENDANT EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY ASSURANCE CORPORATION, LIMITED, CREDIT AS AGAINST SAUNDERS FOR \$29.90 PAID TO SAUNDERS FOR THE PURPOSE OF OBTAINING LICENSE PLATES AND PAYING SALES TAX.

POINT NO. VII.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND AND CONCLUDE THAT SAUNDERS IS LIABLE TO EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY ASSURANCE CORPORATION, LTD., FOR ALL AMOUNTS AWARDED TO BATES AGAINST SAUNDERS AND/OR SIMPSON IN THIS TRANSACTION ON THE BOND APPLICATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN SAUNDERS AND EMPLOYERS.

POINT NO. VIII.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE FINDINGS OF FACT AS TO THE ALLEGATION OF THE COMPLAINT OF BATES AND THE CROSS-COMPLAINT OF THE EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY ASSURANCE CORPORATION, LTD., AGAINST DEFENDANT AND CROSS-DEFENDANT SAUNDERS.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND AND CONCLUDE THAT SAUNDERS WAS LIABLE TO BATES AS A CO-TORTFEASOR WITH SIMPSON.

(a) The sale to Bates was a joint venture participated in by Simpson and Saunders. Both Simpson and Saunders received bene fits by reason of the transaction.

On November 5, 1949, at the used car lot, Simpson told Bates that Bill Saunders was his partner; that they would finance the car at one of two finance companies, either Strevell-Paterson or Capitol Finance (R. 84). On November 7th Simpson again told Bates that Saunders, his partner and finance man, was away hunting and the financing would be taken care of when he returned. (R. 83)

Subsequent to November 7th, but during the week following November 5th, Bates contacted Simpson again

and he was told by Simpson that his partner Bill Saunders had got the car financed through Strevell-Paterson. At Page 85 of the record, Bates states that when he got the signed contract showing Saunders as the seller, he presumed everything was all right, because Simpson had told him before that Bill Saunders had got it financed through Strevell-Paterson and he "couldn't see anything wrong with it".

At Page 110 of the record Bates states that no mention was made as to who the dealer would be. The only discussion was as to the finance company and that it would be one of two finance companies, and in answer to the question:

"Q. Did he say that it might be either himself or Saunders that would be the dealer?

he replied:

A. Well, that was later. He didn't say anything about who might be. He told me later that Saunders was his partner and he had got it through Strevell-Paterson."

Page 111:

"Q. Weren't you concerned at all when you bought a car from—thought you had bought a car from Simpson and the contract came out that you had bought it from Saunders?

A. Well, the two names was on the place there. I couldn't see anything wrong with it."

In January, 1950, Bates went to Blair Motor Company to locate Saunders, and when Bates drove up Saun-

ders walked out to him and said: "I'll bet you're looking for me", and in answer to the question: "You're positive that Saunders came up to you and knew who you were?" Bates answered, "A. Well, it appeared that way."

Saunders' own explanation appears on R. 154 as follows:

"Q. Were you on the used car lot at 999 South State?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. On or about November of 1949? .

A. Oh, yes.

Q. Now, when this contract was brought to you, was there any signature on the lines 'Seller-Dealer', 'Title', or 'Dealer's Address'?

A. No.

Q. Now, what was the purpose of you taking the position of the seller of this automobile to Mr. Bates?

A. Well, Strevell-Paterson didn't do business with Jimmie Simpson. In order for me to get it financed I had to sign it.

Q. In other words, Strevell-Paterson wouldn't finance this unless you were the seller?

A. That's correct.

Q. They wouldn't extend credit to Simpson?

A. They done no dealings with Simpson.

Q. Now what then was the purpose of your signing on the line, 'Seller-Dealer' other than to enable you to go to the Strevell-

Paterson and represent that you were the one that sold the car to Bates?

A. Well, in order to cash the contract."

On Page 155 of the transcript:

"Q. Now what consideration did you get out of it?

A. Well, Strevell-Paterson paid me a reserve of \$70.00 for bringing them that contract."

On Page 157 of the transcript:

"Q. Now it was the \$70.00 that brought you into this deal; the chance to pick up \$70.00, wasn't it?

A. Yes.

Q. He (Simpson) came down and told you he couldn't get it financed at Capitol, didn't he?

A. That's right.

Q. And wanted you to lend your aid in getting it financed?

A. That's right."

Page 158 of the transcript:

"Q. But you were the one that represented that you owned the car and you were selling and that the title was coming out to you?

A. I guaranteed it, yes.

Q. No, but that you had the title as seller?

A. Yes, that's right.

Q. So you were the one that had to get that title then, weren't you?

A. Uh uh.

At Page 195 of the transcript appears the following:

“Q. Had Simpson ever helped you out at Capitol on a deal like this?

A. Possibly.

Q. Definitely he did, didn't he?

A. Well, I don't know the case, but it's possible. He bought the car from me and sold it.”

As to the transaction between Simpson and Saunders, the story appears on Pages 202 and immediately following of the transcript as follows:

“Q. What authority did you have to do that? (Insert Saunders' name as seller.)

A. Well, I had his okey on it.

Q. If you had his okey tell me where you got that okey and what was said.

A. Well, he gave it to me.

Q. Now, what was said in this conversation between you and Simpson?

A. Well, he called me up and I went down and he asked me if I would cash it. I looked over the credit rating; I knew the car, I knew what he was talking about.

Q. He showed you the contracts, Exhibit 1 and Exhibit B, didn't he?

A. In blank. All he had was pages signed.

- Q. And so you wanted to know something about the deal, didn't you?
- A. Naturally.
- Q. So you found out at that time some of the facts concerning the car, didn't you?
- A. Oh, who was purchasing it, yes, and the amount.
- Q. Now you had already known that the car had come from California, from Brokaw-Bauer?
- A. Yes.
- Q. As the result of Simpson's trip to California?
- A. Yes.
- Q. The same kind of a trip that you and Simpson had been on in July of the same year, a trip to buy cars?
- A. I went on one trip to California, yes.
- Q. Then you knew that the title of the car was with a draft at the Continental Bank?
- A. When?
- Q. When you were talking with Simpson on or about the 15th of November?
- A. Yes.
- Q. He told you all about that?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. He showed you, did he show you the order?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Under which the car had been purchased by Bates?

- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. He told you all of the circumstances concerning the sale and the transfer to Bates?
- A. Yes.
- Q. He told you a little about Bates' background?
- A. Well, it was all in writing. I could see it and read it for myself.
- Q. You told him the car could be operated on California plates?
- A. He didn't tell me until a few days later.
- Q. You were to see that the title was transferred up to the State Capitol because you were to pay the tax?
- A. Very true.
- Q. And that was because you had assumed the position of seller?
- A. I don't know about that.
- Q. Did you inquire whether it had been properly registered in any way at the State Capitol before you placed your name as the seller on this contract?
- A. No.
- Q. Was anything said about who would get the reserve?
- A. *Well, it was understood I would get it if I done it for him. Strevel-Paterson certainly wouldn't.*
- Q. *If you did this for Simpson, then you would get the reserve?*
- A. *Strevel-Paterson would pay me.*

Q. So actually what this deal was, was purely an arrangement between you and Simpson whereby you would both get a profit out of the sale of this car to Bates?

A. Well, Simpson wouldn't pay me the profit.

Q. No, each one of you would get your profit by selling this car to Bates?

A. I would make \$70.00 if he had been all right.

At Page 211 of the transcript:

“Q. Who gave you the authority to put your name in as seller?

A. Simpson.

Q. Now what was said about it?

A. Well, that he couldn't cash the contract with his finance company and if I would do it he would appreciate it very much. I had no reason to distrust Simpson. You don't think for a minute I would have passed that money over if I had any alarm over the deal.

Q. Well, you had been in on these deals all the way along, you had full confidence in him?

A. I trusted Simpson.

Q. *So that once again by entering into this contract with Bates, you yourself had made the same representation that you would get the title so that it could be financed?*

A. *I would have if Simpson hadn't defaulted on his end of it.*

Q. *So that representation is the same to Bates, isn't it?*

A. *Yes, sir.”*

At Page 218:

“Q. Now, Mr. Saunders, you knew that \$870.00 wouldn’t pay the balance on the draft at the bank at the time you turned it over to Simpson?

A. Certainly.

Q. You knew that Simpson had to get some more money to pay that?

A. Certainly.

Q. So you merely relied upon Simpson’s credit to go up and get the draft from the bank?

A. Certainly.

Q. *In fact, you were leaving this whole thing to Simpson and you were acting merely for the purpose of lending your credit? This was still Simpson’s deal?*

A. *That’s right.”*

At Page 219 of the transcript:

“Q. *But at any rate on January 5, 1950, you were still having full trust and confidence in Simpson?*

A. *Well, certainly.*

Q. *Had there been anything said or indicated by Simpson at any time up until then that he was not going to get this title?*

A. *I should say not.*

Q. Now if you were to get the license plates and arrange for the transfer did you have delivered to you an application signed by Bates for that transfer?

A. Yes.”

At Page 246 of the transcript Mr. Minson, the car finance agent for Strevell-Paterson, in answer to questions by Saunders’ attorney, testified as follows:

“Q. But, Mr. Minson, if Mr. Saunders brought this in with Haskell N. Bates’ signature—I refer to Exhibit 1—the rest of the document blank, *and he had with him the document which shows as the purchase order which goes with the sale* and he was willing to sign this and signed it in your presence and you would loan him money on it, wouldn’t you?

A. That’s right.

Q. In fact, that is what has happened in this case, isn’t it?

A. That is correct.”

On Page 247 Mr. Minson states:

“Q. Did you see Mr. Saunders when he brought the document into you.

A. *Yes, I filled out the transaction and issued the check.*

Q. Now as to the arrangement between Simpson and Saunders, you don’t know whether they split commissions on deals or not, do you?

A. I don’t know.

Q. You don’t know whether they shared expenses on the lot, do you?

A. Mr. Saunders said they did. Told us they did.”

Simpson represented and held out Saunders as his partner and finance man, and told Bates that the car would be financed by his partner. The two were on the same lot; their names were on a common sign, advertising their business; they shared their expenses; they had previously shared on a similar transaction in bringing cars from California; they assisted each other in their financing, and in the Bates transaction, the deal, though still Simpson's, was arranged so as to give Saunders at least \$70.00 of the profit on the sale and financing. The inescapable conclusion must be that Saunders acted as and was in fact a partner, or at least a joint venturer or actor with Simpson in consummating this transaction.

Saunders knew that neither he nor Simpson had the title when he signed the contract to Bates and when he sold the contract to Strevell-Paterson. On that date he knew that neither the title nor the draft was at the Continental Bank. On that date he knew it would be several days before that title would be delivered. On that date he knew that Simpson, like himself, must secure additional money from some source to meet the draft at the bank. With equal knowledge of all of the facts he made the same representation to Bates that Simpson had made, and in addition had made the same representation as to title to Strevell-Paterson by inserting his name as seller into the contract. The facts are clear that Saunders joined with Simpson in a misrepresentation of this transaction to both Bates and Strevell-Paterson in order to secure the money on the Bates contract, and assumed equally

with Simpson the obligation to deliver title to Bates, as required by Section 57-6-5, U.C.A., 1943.

The law is clear that one whose conduct is a substantial contribution to the damage or loss suffered is liable to the same extent as a joint tortfeasor. The facts of this case establish Saunders and Simpson as joint tortfeasors, but the law does not require that we need go that far in establishing the relationship to hold Saunders for his acts, if such acts constitute a substantial contribution to the loss.

Section 879 of the *Restatement of the Law of Torts* is as follows:

“Except as stated in Section 881, each of two persons who is independently guilty of tortious conduct, which is a substantial factor in causing a harm to another, is liable for the entire harm, in the absence of a superseding cause.”

“Comment:

“(a) A person whose tortious conduct is otherwise one of the legal causes of an injurious result is not relieved from liability for the entire harm by the fact that the tortious act of another responsible person contributes to the result. Nor are the damages against him diminished. This is true where both are simultaneously negligent, and also where the act of one either occurs, or takes harmful effect after that of another. It is immaterial that as between the two, one of them was primarily at fault causing the harm, or that the other upon payment of damages, would have indemnity against him. It is also immaterial that the conduct of one was seriously wrongful, while the conduct of the other was merely negligent, or,

indeed, blameless. Likewise it is immaterial that the liability of one is based upon common-law rules, while that of the other is based upon a statute." *Restatement of the Law of Torts*, Vol. 5, P. 446.

Section 876 of the *Restatement of Law of Torts* is as follows:

"For harm resulting to a third person from the tortious conduct of another, a person is liable if he * * *

(b) knows that the other's conduct constitutes a breach of duty and gives substantial assistance or encouragement to the other so as to conduct himself, or

(c) gives substantial assistance to the other in accomplishing a tortious result and his own conduct, separately considered, constitutes a breach of duty to the third person."

The comment upon Clause (c) is as follows:

"Where a person personally participates in causing a particular result in accordance with an agreement with another, he is responsible for the result of the united effort if his act, considered by itself, constitutes a breach of duty *and is a substantial factor in causing the result*, irrespective of his knowledge that his act or the act of the other is tortious." (emphasis supplied.)

See *Restatement of Torts*, Vol. 4, Pages 435, 436, 439.

In the case at bar it is undisputed that Saunders' conduct was a substantial factor in the accomplishment of the sale to Bates. Two factors were necessary to

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