1951

## Haskell N. Bates v. Jimmie Simpson et al : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT NO. I.

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND AND CONCLUDE THAT SAUNDERS KNOWINGLY VIOLATED THE STATUTES OF THE STATE OF UTAH AND WAS THEREFORE LIABLE TO BATES.

Section 57-6-4 of Utah Code Annotated, 1943, provides:

"...every person, firm or corporation who shall bring any used or second hand motor vehicles into the State of Utah for the purpose of sale or resale ... shall, within ten days from the date of entry of said motor vehicle within the limits of the state of Utah register such motor vehicle with the state tax commission of the State of Utah ..., and shall before said used or second hand car is put on a used car lot for sale or offered for sale, or sold, execute a bond with two good and sufficient sureties, or with a surety company duly authorized to do business in the State of Utah as a surety or sureties thereon, payable to the state tax commission for the use and benefit of the purchaser and his vendees, conditioned to pay all losses, damages and expenses that may be sustained by the purchaser, or vendees, that may be occasioned by reason of the failure of the title of such vendor or by reason of any fraudulent misrepresentations or breaches of warranty as to freedom from liens, quality,

condition, use or value of the motor vehicle being sold ..."

Section 57-6-5 provides:

"Every person, firm, or corporation upon the sale delivery of any used or second hand motor vehicle shall within forty-eight hours thereof deliver to the vendee, and endorsed according to law, a certificate of title, issued for said vehicle by the state tax commission."

Section 57-6-7 broadens the terms 'dealer' and 'vendor' to include defendant, Saunders.

This section provides:

"The terms, 'dealer' and 'vendor', herein used shall be construed to include every individual, partnership, corporation or trust whose business in whole or in part is that of selling new or used motor vehicles and likewise shall be construed to include every agent, representative or consignee of any such dealer as defined above as fully as if same had been herein expressly set out; provided, no agent, representative or consignee of such dealer or vendor shall be required to make and file the said bond if such dealer or vendor for whom such agent, representative or consignee acts fully complies in each instance with the provisions of this act."

These provisions were considered to/im-  
be so  
portant by the legislature that a severe  
penalty has been attached to any violation  
thereof.

"No action or right of action to recover any such motor vehicle, or any part of the selling price thereof, shall be maintained in the courts of this state by any such dealer or vendor, his successors or assigns, in any case wherein such vendor or dealer shall have failed to comply with the terms and provisions of this act, and such vendor or dealer, upon conviction for the violation of any of the provisions of this act shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be punished by a fine of not more than \$299 or by imprisonment for not more than six months in the county jail, or by both such fine and imprisonment."

The testimony of Saunders as quoted on pages 13 to 20 inclusive, and of Minson from Strevell-Paterson as quoted on page 20 of the brief of Defendant, The Employers' Liability Assurance Corporation, Ltd., conclusively shows that Saunders knowingly violated the statutes of the State of Utah, in that as a bonded, used car dealer he aided and abetted in a transaction wherein he assumed the position of dealer and seller of a motor vehicle brought into this state for the purpose of resale. He failed to register said motor vehicle, though he assum-

The provisions of the copyright act administered by the Utah State Library



quoted apply to defendant Saunders under whatever category he may be placed, whether individual dealer or agent of Simpson.

Defendant, The Employers' Liability Assurance Corporation, Ltd., attempts to use the foregoing section 57-6-5, U.C.A. 1949, in it's own behalf to place responsibility upon Saunders and to thereby recover from him under indemnifying provisions of Employers' bond on Saunders as a used car dealer. However, on page 30 of it's brief Employers says: "This defendant does not admit that the statute referred to confers any private right on plaintiff,..." If the statute is not for the purpose of protecting purchasers of used automobiles in instances of the nature here involved, it is difficult to visualize where the statute would be of any effect whatever.

Laws of Utah 1949, Chapter 67, Section 8, provides:

**Before any New Motor Vehicle Dealer's**



license or used Motor Vehicle Dealer's license shall be issued by the Administrator to any applicant therefore, the said applicant shall procure and file with the Administrator a good and sufficient bond in the amount of Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) with corporate surety thereon, duly licensed to do business within the State of Utah, approved as to form by the Attorney General of the State of Utah, and conditioned that said applicant shall conduct his business as a dealer without fraud or fraudulent representation, and without the violation of any of the provisions of this act. The bond may be continuous in form, and the total aggregate liability on the bond shall be limited to the payment of (\$5,000.00."

Laws of Utah 1949, Chapter 67, Section 10 provides:

"If any person shall suffer any loss or damage by reason of fraud, fraudulent representation or violation of any of the provisions of this act by a licensed dealer or one of his salesmen, then acting for the dealer on his behalf, or within the scope of the employment of such salesman, such person shall have a right of action against such dealer, and/or the automobile salesman guilty of the fraud, fraudulent representation or violation of any of the provisions of this act, and /or the sureties upon their respective bonds."

Laws of Utah 1949, Chapter 67, Section 13 provides:

"It shall be unlawful and a violation of this Act for the holder of any license issued under the terms and provisions hereof:

"(B) To violate any of the terms or provisions of this Act or any of the rules and regulations promulgated by the Administrator under the authority herein conferred upon him.

"(D) To violate any law of the State of Utah now existing or hereafter enacted respecting commerce in motor vehicles or any lawful rule or regulation respecting commerce in motor vehicles promulgated by any licensing or regulating authority now existing or hereafter created by the laws of the State of Utah."

From these statutes it is clear the purpose of the bonds issued by Employers' for Saunders and for Simpson are to protect plaintiff Haskell W. Bates.

## POINT NO. II.

THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND AND CONCLUDED THAT SIMPSON IN HIS DEALINGS WITH BATES WAS GUILTY OF FRAUD AND DECEIT, AND OF VIOLATION OF THE STATUTES OF THE STATE OF UTAH, THEREFORE, JUDGMENT AGAINST THE EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY ASSURANCE CORPORATION LTD., FOR

The argument of Employers' as set forth under Point 1 (b) of its brief, pages 24 to 29 inclusive, proceeds on the assumption that it is necessary to show both Saunders and Simpson were equal in culpability to hold Saunders liable on Saunders' indemnity agreement with Employers. However the citations there given do not so hold.

No question has been raised regarding the liability of Simpson for violation of the State motor vehicle laws and of the consequent liability of Employers, therefore no comment will be made thereon. Whether Simpson was guilty of fraud or not, in no way affects Employers' liability under the bond.

Laws of Utah 1949, Chapter 67, Section 8, provides, that the bond shall be "conditioned that said applicant shall conduct his business as a dealer without fraud or fraudulent representations and without violation of any of the provisions of this act."

provides, that if any person suffers loss because of fraud or violation of the act he "shall have a right of action against " the dealer and/or the sureties.

Section 13 (D) of the same chapter provides that the violation of "this act", includes the violation of any law of the State respecting commerce in motor vehicles.

Accordingly, whether Simpson was or was not guilty of fraud, in no way affects the liability of Employers to plaintiff on its bond for Simpson, whose whereabouts is unknown.

Fraud against Simpson was clearly proven. Every element of fraud as set out in, *Stueck v. Delta Land & Water Co.*, 63 Utah 495, 227 Pac. 791, was proven.

Simpson held out and represented to plaintiff that Simpson owned the 1947 Chevrolet and had the right to sell it, by displaying same on his lot for sale (A.87-88), when Simpson knew he did not have title to the car, and

could not get title until the title and draft arrived from California and Simpson had paid the draft. Simpson, to further his purpose of fraud and deceit, told plaintiff no permit sticker was required on the car, when Simpson as a used car dealer knew or should have known such statement was contrary to law, and would be relied upon by plaintiff. Simpson further violated the law when he represented to plaintiff that license plates would not be needed for the car for two or three weeks. Employers' contention that violation of a promise alone is not sufficient to prove fraud and deceit is correct. However, when the violation of a promise and subsequent acts, fit with all other facts of false representations, known by Simpson to be false, indicate clearly the plan of fraud and deceit. Simpson's stall with Bates about getting the license plates and his stall with Saunders about getting the title and the manner thereof, indicate Simpson's mind in the matter. Employers' claim,

that Simpson's contention of being too busy to get the plates, as given to Bates, may have been the truth (Employers' brief page 27).

Then, is "being too busy" justification for continued violation of law. Simpson knew the true reason he did not obtain the plates was, because he did not have title to the car, and his wish to continue deceiving plaintiff.

The evidence clearly shows he never did have title and never did intend to get any plates. Saunders testified that Simpson told "so <sup>many</sup> damn stories" about the title to the car that they could not be remembered. That Simpson also said the title to the car had been returned to California, but when this was rechecked with the bank, Saunders knew Simpson had been lying (A.187). Exhibit 11 shows the title of the 1947 Chevrolet was never returned to California until after Simpson disappeared. In all of Simpson's conversations with Bates, Simpson never once told Bates the truth about





THE CROSS-COMPLAINT OF EMPLOYERS', AGAINST  
DEFENDANT SAUNDERS, IF THE COURT DID NOT  
ERROR IN FAILING TO FIND AND CONCLUDE THAT  
SAUNDERS WAS LIABLE TO BATES.

The record pp. 41 to 46 and 49 to 54  
inclusive, are the complete Findings of Fact.  
Every material issue of fact presented to the  
Court by the pleadings and the evidence has  
been covered in the Findings.

Employers' contention in its Point No.  
VIII, pages 48 and 49 of its brief, that find-  
ings on plaintiff's complaint against Saunders  
and Employers' cross-complaint are not suf-  
ficient, fails when all of the Findings of  
Fact are considered together. The findings  
of the Court in Findings 4 to 12 inclusive,  
(R.50 to 53 inclusive), in finding for Saunders,  
though not following plaintiff's complaint nor  
the cross-complaint of defendant, Employers',  
correctly covers all material issues involved  
in the objections of Employers, if such Find-  
ings of Fact are supported by the evidence.



Jankelo v. Texas Co., 88 Utah 325, 54 Pac.(2d)  
425.

### CONCLUSION

The judgment of the Trial Court, in favor of plaintiff, Haskell M. Bates, is properly supported by the evidence and should be affirmed, and plaintiff should also be given judgment against defendant, W. J. Saunders.